FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/5/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/2/2023 4:59 PM

102062-7

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I IN AND FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 82349-3-I

TERRY FOSTER, APPELLANT/PETITIONER

 \mathbf{V}

UNITY CARE, et al., RESPONDENTS

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

William C. Budigan
Attorney for Petitioner
Budigan Law Firm
2601 42nd Avenue West
Seattle, WA 98199
(206) 284 5305

issues to the court of appeals:

- 1. The doctrine of corporate negligence does not apply, under the facts of this case;
- 2. Bellingham Urology Specialists (BUS), as the entity employing Taylor, had a duty to supervise Ms. Taylor's work. Plaintiff may proceed against BUS on his claim that BUS breached that duty and proximately caused damage to Mr. Foster;

- 3. Plaintiff's claim against Dr. Carlsen as an individual, alleging the breach of duty to supervise Ms. Taylor, is dismissed. The plaintiff's motion for a further reconsideration of this issue [filed 12-11-20,for reconsideration of the court's oral ruling at the hearing on 11-23-20] is denied.
- 4. The Plaintiff's failure to supervise claim, against BUS, is separate and apart from the claim relating to the negligence of Taylor, such that the supervisory claim does not depend on a finding that Ms. Taylor was negligent in her care of Mr. Foster;

The court of appeals ruled against 1 and 3 and declined review of 2 and 4. Petitioner herein seeks reversal of Rulings 1 and 3 and seeks the reinstatement into the case

of PA Taylor and DOH named supervisors, Drs Pettit and O'Keefe.

V ARGUMENT

Per RAP 13.4 (b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. review should be accepted by the Supreme Court here because:

- (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, as here the court of appeals did not follow the reasoning or policy for expanding the corporate negligence doctrine as already adopted by this court,
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved, as here the exclusion DOH registered supervisors under false or unknown pretenses and a PA identified in the tolling statute granting rights for bringing suit when mediation is demanded, and per RAP 2.3 (b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review "(1) The superior court has

committed an obvious error which would render further proceedings useless", as here a trial after the pending appeal is decided without the discretionary review for parties and issues included in the trial, undisputedly renders the trial useless because it will certainly be appealed by the Plaintiff at the end of the trial, and

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, as explained in (3) above and in a case involving medical negligence affecting all citizens.

A) THIS COURT SHOULD EXTEND THE CORPORATE NEGLIGENCE DOCTRINE IN MEDICAL MALPRACTICE TO ALL CORPORATE ENTITIES MEDICAL PROVIDERS AND NOT JUST HOSPITALS

WSAJ's Medical Negligence Deskbook 2nd Edition Edited by Elizabeth Calora and Tyler Goldberg-Hoss (2021) "What sets corporate negligence apart from medical negligence is the entity's independent duty to exercise reasonable care." (p100)

"Washington first expressly recognized the corporate negligence doctrine regarding medical negligence cases in 1984 with Pedroza v. Bryant, 101 Wn.2d 226, 677 P.2d 166 (1984). (p102)(p103) By the time Washington addressed corporate negligence, at least thirteen states already permitted such claims for corporate negligence regarding physician competency and review of privileges. But to its credit, the Washington Supreme Court had implicitly adopted some essential principles of corporate negligence in two prior cases from 1967 and 1972, holding that (1) a hospital violated its duty when permitting an operation without the presence of a physician, and (2) a hospital can have a statutory duty to patients independent of a physician's duty.26 Nonetheless, with its explicit adoption in 1984, the Washington Supreme Court set foundational public forth its justifications for corporate negligence. The policy underlying Washington's public adoption [of the Corporate Negligence Doctrinel included the rationale that health care entities are the best-positioned organizations to create workable systems to review, monitor, and evaluate the quality of care being provided within their institutions. By acknowledging

institutions' unique position to prevent standard of care deviations, the Court reasoned that the corporate negligence duties of entities would result in fewer instances of medical negligence by individual providers.²⁷ (Pedroza, 100 Wn. 2d at 232)" (p103-104)

" (p105) Cases have set forth additional duties:

(p106) • "[D]uty to monitor the treatment of its patients and intervene if there is obvious negligence."44

44 Schoening v. Grays Harbor Comm. Hosp., 40 Wn. App. 331, 335, 698 P.2d 593 (1985).

(p106) • "[A] continuing duty to review and delineate staff privileges so that incompetent staff physicians are not retained."45 This duty requires periodic monitoring and review of provider competency.46

45 Pedroza, 101 Wn.2d at 230. 46 Taylor v. Intuitive Surgical, Inc., 187 Wn.2d 743, 755-56, 389 P.3d 517 (2017).

All of these duties have been recognized by the court as duties for owing by a medical provider entity and these duties should not just be limited to hospitals, but should be applicable to clinics, groups, out-patient treatment facilities, any non-hospital settings regardless of whether their corporate organization is Inc.,LLC, PLLC, etc. Medical negligence statutes apply to all of these medical providers and not just hospitals.

The court of appeals in the Opinion at 17 states that in *Douglas v. Freeman*, 117 Wn.2d 242, 248, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991), the Washington Supreme Court "did not address whether the corporate negligence doctrine applies to an entity that is not a hospital" and the court of appeals did not find such a case and indeed distinguished <u>Douglas</u> by arguing that there the Supreme Court found the Corporate Negligence Doctrine to apply to a dental clinic because its parent entity was a hospital.

We ask the court to review and reject this narrow interpretation of <u>Douglas</u> because the focus in that case clearly was on a dental clinic and the Supreme Court did NOT deny the Corporate Negligence Doctrine applying to the clinic and

,indeed, DID specifically apply the corporate negligence doctrine to the dental clinic.

The court of appeals notes at Opinion at mid-17 that the Supreme Court did find that the Corporate Negligence

Doctrine applied against a clinic. The Supreme Court did not say that it was applying against the clinic because it was owned by a hospital. The court of appeals believes that the Supreme Court did not decide Corporate Negligence Doctrine applies to an entity that is not a hospital.

When the Washington Supreme Court has not ruled on an issue and has not given clear guidance about how it would rule, the Courts of Appeals may rule on the issue. Very few cases get to the Washington State Supreme Court and if courts of appeals could not decide cases without guidance from the Supreme Court, untold numbers of cases could not go through the court system and get justice.

Here, the court of appeals believes that the Supreme Court has not ruled upon the issue of whether corporate

entities other than hospitals can fall under the Corporate Negligence Doctrine.

If the court of appeals here does not decide this issue because of the belief that there is no precedent either way from the Washington State Supreme Court, then no case from Division One can make it to the Supreme Court. Respectfully, this court of appeals is shirking its duty to determine legal issues between the parties because of a lack of precedent. That is the circumstance under which the court of appeals is precisely to rule on the issues between the parties. It is not supposed to wait for a Supreme Court ruling on review from another division willing to review the issues between the parties despite a lack of precedent.

Because the court of appeals sees a lack of precedent, it did not want to review the issue at all here and the facts and reasons why the Corporate Negligence Doctrine should obviously apply to medical entities in a non-hospital corporate setting when there is no reason for the distinction and the

majority of doctors now in clinics escaping liability under the Corporate Negligence Doctrine adopted by this state for the reasons that equally apply to non-hospital medical entities providing treatments to patients.

B) THIS COURT SHOULD HOLD THAT A DOCTOR ACTUALLY SUPERVISING PHYSICIAN ASSISTANTS SHOULD HAVE A DUTY TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE PAS EVEN IF THE DOCTOR IS NOT REGISTERED WITH THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AS ONE OF SEVERAL SUPERVISORS

The court of appeals ruled in Opinion at 19 that Issue

No. 3 certified up to the court of appeals regarding the liability

of Dr. Carlsen for supervising PA Taylor was properly

dismissed by the trial court and affirmed.

The court of appeals ruled that Defendant Dr. Carlsen was properly dismissed for liability for the PA here because:

1) PA Taylor and Dr. Carlsen never entered into a DOH "delegation agreement" and therefore he could not be liable

for her supervision under the relevant RCWs and WACs in 2014 when the treatment occurred. This is simply incorrect under the law: a doctor supervising a PA is liable for the acts or omissions of a PA under his supervision regardless of whether or not he is registered as the supervisor with DOH. The court of appeals interpretation is simply not what the practice and suits show in reality. Post-2014 changes in the DOH WAC stating that doctors in a group practice (more than the two doctors registered with DOH) do not have to be individually identified with DOH does not mean that that was not the practice and law in 2014 and before. It has always been the law that supervising doctors are responsible for the PA because PAs can never act unless under the supervision of a doctor. This court should reconsider this mistake of law and practice and its later codifications does not exclude the prior law and practice.

2) Foster offers no proof that Dr. Carlsen supervised PA Taylor. This is absolutely untrue.

This was admitted in the deposition of PA Taylor and in Dr. Carlsen's answers to interrogatories where they both clearly stated that PA Taylor was trained, supervised, available for consulting, and assigned to work for all three of the doctors in the practice (and not just the two other doctors registered with DOH years before Dr. Carlsen arrived) and no patients were ever directly assigned any specific provider and all the doctors were doctors for all the patients and she worked multiple supervisors on multiple patients. PA Taylor's treatment of Foster was overseen by Dr. Carlsen and the other doctors and not just by those registered with the DOH. This evidence was provided throughout CPs and briefings.

The court should accept discretionary review at this time when reviewing all of these issues of liable parties and reinstate to the case Doctors O'Keefe and Pettit, whom the trial court in error denied reinstatement due to an earlier stipulation of counsel to dismiss them based on Defendants' counsel's representation that they had absolutely nothing to do with

Foster's appointment with the PA. Defendants' counsel was equally shocked to learn that these two doctors were the DOH supervisors of PA Taylor responsible for overseeing her work for that appointment. These issues are going up on appeal eventually and it would be far better to resolve it now then after the trial, necessitating a separate trial later against them. This is clear error and absolutely should be reversed now.

Respondent argues that even if these two doctors are

DOH supervisors they cannot be liable because they never met
with Foster on the day of the PA appointment and impliedly
argue that they were not his doctor(s).

In Paetsch v. Spokane Dermatology Clinic, 182 Wash.

2d 842, 847 (2015), the Supreme Court held in a case exactly like ours that it was not error for the trial court to hold Dr.

Wheschler, an alternative DOH supervisor of the subject PA, liable for that PAs acts or omission even though he never saw the patient.

Spokane Dermatology Clinic is a professional services company owned solely by Dr. William Werschler.

... While Dr. Werschler owned the clinic and was listed as the plaintiff's doctor on her patient profile form, he was not present at the clinic while Paetsch was a patient of the clinic. Dr. Werschler never saw Paetsch, never advised Rhoads on her treatment or on her condition, and never spoke with her.

Like in the instant case case: "[Ft5] ... Dr. Werschler was his [DOH] alternate supervisor...who knowingly used PA–C Rhoads to perform patient services....", just as did Pettit and O'Keefe here.

The WA Supreme Court held that these issues, very much like those for the 3 doctor BUS members here, went to the jury to decide and it found the doctor not liable, but because Plaintiff was allowed the jury instructions that Dr. Werschler, and the PS were liable for PA Rhodes' error, Plaintiff could not claim trial court error. This is now before this court on appeal to decide in Washington law whether an owner of PLLC and the PLLC itself has a duty to intervene in

the care provided by a PA even if one is or is not the supervisor of the PA. Because our case has not gone to trial yet, this court will be deciding these issues.

C) THIS COURT SHOULD PROCEED IN DECIDING UNDER DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FOSTER'S MOTIONS TO REINSTATE DOH SUPERVISORS DRS PETTIT AND O'KEEFE AND PA-C TAYLOR.

The court of appeals in Opinion at 14 stated: "Foster also seeks discretionary review, asking us to reverse the trial court's (1) stipulation and order dismissing Dr. Pettit, Dr. O'Keefe (2) order denying his motion to vacate the stipulated order dismissing those defendants, (3) order denying his motion to vacate its order dismissing Taylor, and (4) order denying his motion to amend his complaint to add PNWUS as a party."

Here, a trial after the pending appeal is decided without the discretionary review for parties and issues that should be included in the trial, undisputedly renders the trial useless because it will certainly be appealed by the Plaintiff, as the liability of the dismissed defendants – PA Taylor, Drs O'Keefe and Pettit, and PLLC Manager Dodd, and successor PLLCs BUG and PNUS – and the issues of liability of a DOH registered supervisor(s) for failure to supervise a PA, tolling of statute of limitations for personnel under the tolling statute for mediation, PA Taylor's individual liability as a health care provider, PLLC manager liability for practice procedures for supervision of PAs and for successor liability of PLLCs, will not have been decided by the trial if these issues and parties remain excluded by the trial court's rulings and the court of appeals denied review. If review is not accepted all of these issues will come before this court of appeals after the useless trial.

This court declined review claiming that the motions were untimely (footnote 13). However the court should reconsider this decision despite the technicalities of other RAP rules because:

1) The court has the authority to enlarge the for filing a motion for discretionary review, as Petitioner has sought here, to serve the ends of justice.

RAP 18.8 WAIVER OF RULES AND

EXTENSION AND REDUCTION OF TIME

(a) Generally. The appellate **court** may, **on its own initiative** or on motion of a party, **waive or alter the provisions of any of these rules** and **enlarge** or shorten the **time within which an act must be done in a particular case** in order **to serve the ends of justice**, subject to the restrictions in sections (b) and (c).

The court has the authority to even waive the RAPs. See also, **RAP 1.2(c):**

Waiver. The appellate court may waive or alter the provisions of <u>any</u> of these rules in order to serve the ends of justice, subject to the restrictions in rule 18.8(b) and (c).

D) THIS COURT SHOULD REINSTATE PA TAYLOR WHO WAS DISMISSED FROM THE CASE, RULING THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS NOT TOLLING ONE ADDITIONAL YEAR UNDER RCW 7.70.110 DUE TO HER NOT BEING SPECIFICALLY NAMED, BUT DESCRIBED AS "THE PA" in THE TOLLING MEDIATION DEMAND LETTER, NAMING HER EMPLOYER, BUS, PLLC

Foster sued BUS, its doctor-members, its PLLC manager, PA Taylor, et al. He could not find an attorney during the three-year statute of limitations, but before it ran, he tolled it by the one-year extension under RCW 7.70.110 because he finally made a demand for mediation. (CP542-552 **EX B)** Mediation Request and Proof of Service of Mediation Request.

RCW 7.70.110 provides that "[t]he making of a written, good faith request for mediation of a dispute related to damages for injury occurring as a result of health care prior to filing a cause of action under this chapter shall toll the statute of limitations provided in RCW 4.16.350 for one year."

The parties agreed that the one-year extension applied to BUS, but the trial court heard a motion for summary judgment

to exclude any party other than BUS. The trial court ruled on 6-1-18 (CP31-34) that everyone else was dismissed because they were not specifically named in the mediation demand, except that the court kept in the suit Dr. Carlsen, PLLC member and provider for Foster's care 8-5-14 and thereafter. Plaintiff moved to add back into the case these dismissed parties by motions in 9-2020 to vacate the 6-1-18 Stipulation and Order dismissing Defendants O'Keefe, Petite, Dodd (CP573-603) and motion to Vacate 9-7-18 Order granting motion for Partial Summary Judgment Dismissing Taylor (CP542-552), arguing:

- 1. The statute is to be liberally construed to not put penalizing requirements into the notice, but simply to provide notice of possible suit and give the sides additional opportunities to mediate prior to suit. It is not to be a trap to exclude defendants prior to suit.
- 2. It is ridiculous to have to name everyone involved in a mediation demand. Notice to the clinic is enough.
 - 3. Notice on the PLLC entity is notice on the members.

The court should have granted the motions under CR 60(b)(11) because trial had not happened in this case yet, the discovery cutoff had not happened yet, PA Taylor was represented by an attorney in this matter, she was already deposed, she already participated in Interrogatory and RFP answers, and she had been fully informed regarding developments in this case, as she has been insured through her employer BUS.

The argument is a simple one. Though her name was not on the mediation request, she was unmistakably identified: she was the only PA at BUS on 1-14-14 and the text of the mediation request states, "The physician assistant who examined me told me it was Peyronie's disease." (CP542-552 EX A).

Plaintiff named PA Taylor in the 1-10-18 Complaint filed herein. She is also a critical party to this cause of action and should be a defendant in the interest of justice, but the trial court dismissed her because it thought Taylor was just an agent

of doctors and not individually liable for her alone diagnosis and treatment of Foster.

In the 9-7-18 Hearing, this court dismissed PA Taylor:

MR. REICHERT [Defendants' Attorney]:.... In terms of Denise Taylor in particular, what I heard from counsel particularly was the argument's even weaker because she is an employee or some sort of agent and not, doesn't have any affiliation and hasn't for years with Bellingham Urology Specialists, she hasn't been there for three or four years.

THE COURT: I think Ms. Taylor is pretty clearly out in her individual capacity. 9/7/18 RoPat20L7-20.

This error is clear: PAs are individually liable for their own negligence (RCW 18.71A.050:...The supervising physician and physician assistant shall *each* retain professional and personal responsibility for any act which constitutes the practice of medicine) and she should be part of this suit and to exclude her on statute of limitations for not giving her name but only her position is not what the legislature intended.

In Unruh v. Cacchiotti, 172 Wn. 2d 98, 172 Wash. 2d 98,

(Wash. 2011), the Washington Supreme Court reviewed the "procedural informality" of RCW 7.70.110 and stated:

Unlike its companion provision, former RCW 7.70.100, which outlined specific procedures for serving the 90-day notice of intent to sue, RCW 7.70.110 does NOT contain detailed service procedures. It requires only that the request for mediation be "written" and be made in "good faith." RCW 7.70.110. (emphasis added).

In finding that Plaintiff's service to Defendant's insurance representative was effective service under RCW 7.70.110, the *Unruh* court based its decision, in part, on the reasoning that "the defendant will receive notice that the plaintiff has requested mediation under RCW 7.70.110." *Unruh*, at 114-115.

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