FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/18/2023 2:30 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

## NO. 102062-7

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# TERRY FOSTER,

Petitioner,

v.

# BELLINGHAM UROLOGY SPECIALISTS, PLLC, and DR. SOREN CARLSEN

Respondents.

## RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amanda K. Thorsvig, WSBA #45354 Attorney for Respondents FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC 3131 Elliott Ave., Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98121 Ph: 206.749.0094

Email: amanda@favros.com

#

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

# V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

No RAP 13.4(b) consideration warrants this Court's review. Foster contends, *Pet. at 7*, that Division I's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions, claiming Division I failed to follow "policy for expanding the corporate negligence doctrine." He also baldly asserts, *Pet. at 7-8*, that a significant constitutional question is involved, and that this is a "case

involving medical negligence affecting all citizens" implicating a substantial public interest. He is wrong on all counts.

# A. <u>Division I's Decision Does Not Conflict with This Court's Decisions.</u>

### 1. Division I's decision follows PA laws.

Foster argues the corporate negligence doctrine required BUS to "train its physician assistants and their supervisors 'to prevent negligence," oversee a PA's practice, and "adopt and enforce rules and policies for proper doctor supervision of PA[-C]s to prevent negligence." Slip Op. at 16 (quoting Foster's brief). No authority, including the corporate negligence doctrine, supports imposing a duty for either BUS or Dr. Carlsen to supervise Taylor in such a manner inconsistent with her DOHapproved practice agreement. The legislature established who constituted Taylor's legal supervisors (her supervising physicians) and the scope of their supervisory duty (the practice agreement).

Chapter 18.71A RCW governs physician assistants' (PAs) medical practice. *Behr v. Anderson*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 341, 371-

72, 491 P.3d 189 (2021), rev. denied, 198 Wn.2d 1040 (2022). It authorized the Board of Medical Examiners to adopt regulations governing the extent to which PAs may practice medicine "to modernize the practice of physician assistants in order to increase access to care, reduce barriers to employment of physician assistants, and optimize the manner in which physician assistants deliver quality medical care." LAWS OF 2020, ch. 80, §1. "The assistant acts on behalf of the physician, allowing the physician to care for many more patients at one time and reducing the cost of health care." Behr, 18 Wn. App. 2d at 371 (citation omitted).

To effectuate these purposes, "Washington statutes place PAs in the position of agents for their supervising physicians." *Id.* Hence, "a PA is properly held to the standard of care of a physician when the PA substitutes for the physician, performing services the PA is competent to perform, as agreed and reflected in his or her practice agreement." *Behr*, 18 Wn. App. 2d at 373.

Supervising physicians are thus responsible for their PAs' actions:

The supervising physician and physician assistant shall each retain professional and personal responsibility for any act which constitutes the practice of medicine as defined in RCW 18.71.011 ... when performed by the physician assistant.

#### RCW 18.71A.050.

Because PAs are agents for their supervising physicians, and supervising physicians are ultimately responsible for their PAs, Washington law in 2014 when Taylor saw Foster, as it does today, authorized the supervising physician and PA to determine the PA's practice scope, including the supervision, consultation, and review of work needed:

- (1) A physician assistant may practice medicine in this state to the extent permitted by the practice agreement. ...
- (2) Physician assistants may provide services that they are competent to perform based on their education, training and experience and that are consistent with their practice agreement. The supervising physician and the physician assistant shall determine which procedures may be performed and the degree of supervision under which the procedure is performed. Physician

assistants may practice in any area of medicine or surgery as long as the practice is not beyond the supervising physician's own scope of expertise and clinical practice and the practice agreement.

RCW 18.71A.030; see also WAC 246-918-140(3) (2014), Wash. St. Reg. 96-03-073 at 60-61 (1996) ("It shall be the responsibility of the certified physician assistant and the sponsoring physician to ensure that appropriate consultation and review of work are provided").

"[T]he services a PA may perform are those that they are competent to perform based on their education, training, and experience, and that fall within the scope of services that are agreed to by the PA and the PA's supervising physician in a practice agreement." *Behr*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 371 (citing RCW 18.71A.030). The supervising physician and the PA are qualified to make this determination based on their medical judgment and their practice's specific needs.

The duty to supervise Foster seeks to impose on BUS and Dr. Carlsen is inconsistent with Taylor's practice agreement, and ignores chapter 18.71A RCW's directive that it is the supervising

physicians who are legally responsible for their PAs and who determine the level of supervision needed. Under Taylor's practice agreement, she had two supervising physicians, Drs. Pettit and O'Keefe, who determined that having the sponsoring physician or alternate available on-site or by phone for consultation as needed was the supervision needed. CP 637-38, 643. If that level of supervision was somehow inadequate, which it was not<sup>3</sup>, they could be liable based on agency principles.

The duty Foster seeks to impose on BUS also risks improperly requiring an LLC to interfere with supervising physicians' and PAs' medical judgment in determining what care PAs can appropriately provide based on their medical education, training, and experience, and the supervising physicians' medical practice needs. An LLC should not be required—or permitted—

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Taylor did not attempt to consult with anyone about Foster because she did not deem it necessary. CP 134, 739. No evidence suggests that her supervising physicians were not available had she wished to consult with them. Nor is there any evidence Dr. Carlsen was a designated alternate or even on shift when Taylor saw Foster.

to circumvent the DOH-approved practice agreement. Doing so would interfere with supervising physicians' medical judgment about what medical care their PAs are qualified to perform on their behalves and what level of supervision is needed. *See, e.g., Columbia Physical Therapy, Inc. v. Benton Franklin Orthopedic Assocs., PLLC*, 168 Wn.2d 421, 431, 228 P.3d 1260 (2010) (corporate practice of medicine doctrine "exists to protect the relationship between the professional and the client"); *Alexander v. Gonser*, 42 Wn. App. 234, 239, 711 P.2d 347 (1985), *rev. denied*, 105 Wn.2d 1017 (1986) (informed consent duty rests with physician, not hospital, because it calls for exercise of medical judgment).

2. <u>Division I's decision declining to extend the corporate negligence doctrine to BUS does not conflict with this Court's decisions.</u>

At least four reasons support Division I's decision declining to apply the corporate negligence doctrine to BUS.

*First*, corporate negligence is a common law doctrine that imposes a duty for hospitals to, among other things, supervise

those who practice there. But here the legislature has already created a duty of supervision for PAs, designating PAs' supervising physicians as those who owe that duty, and authorizing them and their PAs to define the scope of supervision needed in their practice agreements.

Second, no Washington decision has explicitly held that the corporate negligence doctrine applies beyond hospitals. The doctrine is premised on recognition that hospitals comprehensively manage healthcare for patients and are community health centers owing nondelegable duties based on joint commission standards, bylaws, and other hospital-specific regulations:

The doctrine of corporate negligence reflects the public's perception of the modern hospital as a multifaceted health care facility responsible for the quality of medical care and treatment rendered. The community hospital has evolved into a corporate institution, assuming "the role of a comprehensive health center ultimately responsible for arranging and co-ordinating total health care."

Pedroza v. Bryant, 101 Wn.2d 226, 231, 677 P.2d 166 (1984) (citations omitted). Pedroza reasoned that hospitals' licensing

and regulation "supports the limitation of a hospital's duty of care to those who are patients in the hospital", *id.* at 236, and concluded that Joint Commission standards and hospital bylaws—which do not apply to specialty groups like BUS—help define the standard of care, *id.* at 233-34. Foster was seen by a PA in a private outpatient urology group practice, rather than a comprehensive health center coordinating total healthcare. *Pedroza* does not support extending the corporate negligence doctrine to BUS.

Foster incorrectly argues, *Pet. at 11-12*, Division I erred in concluding that *Douglas v. Freeman*, 117 Wn.2d 242, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991), also does not support extending the corporate negligence doctrine to BUS. *Douglas* did not analyze whether the corporate negligence doctrine could apply to a small specialist group like BUS. While *Douglas* involved a dental "clinic," that clinic was part of Providence, a large hospital system providing comprehensive healthcare, one aspect of which

occurred at the clinic. *Id.* at 245. *Douglas* also used the word "hospital" repeatedly in discussing the duties owed:

The doctrine of corporate negligence in cases such as this is based on a nondelegable duty that a **hospital** owes directly to its patients. One commentary finds four such duties owed by a **hospital** under the doctrine of corporate negligence: (1) to use reasonable care in the maintenance of buildings and grounds for the protection of the hospital's invitees; (2) to furnish the patient supplies and equipment free of defects; (3) to select its employees with reasonable care; and (4) to supervise all persons who practice medicine within its walls.

*Id.* at 248 (emphasis added). Division I's decision does not conflict with *Douglas*.

*Third*, no decision of this Court has applied a corporate negligence negligent supervision claim where, as here, vicarious liability also applied. *See, e.g., Pedroza*, 101 Wn.2d at 229 ("plaintiff is not claiming that defendant hospital is vicariously liable for the negligence of Dr. Bryant under the theory of respondeat superior"); *Douglas*, 117 Wn.2d at 253 ("there is no claim here that the clinic is vicariously liable for Dr. Freeman's negligence under the theory of respondeat superior").

Doing so would be contrary to Washington law because it would allow Foster redundant claims against BUS for negligent supervision as well as vicarious liability for Taylor's alleged misdiagnosis, even though BUS has conceded that Taylor acted within the scope of her employment when seeing Foster and that it would have vicarious liability for her negligence, if any. CP 31-34. This Court has stated unequivocally that:

[A]n action based on negligent training and supervision "is applicable *only* when the [employee] is acting outside the scope of his employment." Restatement (Second) of Torts § 317 cmt. a (emphasis added [by the Court]). If the employee is acting within the scope of his employment, then an employer is "vicariously liable under the principles of the law of Agency" instead. *Id*.

Anderson v. Soap Lake Sch. Dist., 191 Wn.2d 343, 361, 423 P.3d 197 (2018). Numerous decisions have consistently applied this principle. *E.g., Gilliam v. DSHS*, 89 Wn. App. 569, 584-85, 950 P.2d 20 (1998), rev. denied, 135 Wn.2d 1015 (1998) (negligent supervision claim "redundant" when employer admits that employee's actions occurred in scope of employment); *LaPlant* 

v. Snohomish County, 162 Wn. App. 476, 479-80, 271 P.3d 254 (2011) ("a cause of action for negligent supervision requires a plaintiff to show that an employee acted *outside* the scope of his or her employment. ... [A] claim for negligent hiring, training, and supervision is generally improper when the employer concedes the employee's actions occurred within the course and scope of employment"); Club Level, Inc. v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., No. 45270-7-II, 2014 Wash. App. LEXIS 3059, \*27 (Dec. 30, 2014), rev. denied, 183 Wn.2d 1003 (2015) ("[b]ecause the WSLCB's liability for negligent supervision would depend on the establishment of claims against Murphy and Stensatter for which the liquor board admits it would be vicariously liable should Fila prevail, Gilliam and LaPlant control. The negligent supervision claim is redundant, and the trial court did not err in dismissing it"); Vahle v. City of Lakewood, No. 53317-1-II, 2020 Wash. App. LEXIS 2785, \*40 (Oct. 27, 2020), rev. denied, 196 Wn.2d 1045 (2021) ("a claim for negligent supervision is improper when the actions occurred within the scope of employment"); <sup>4</sup> *Hicks v. Klickitat County Sheriff's Off.*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 236, 248, 515 P.3d 556 (2022), *rev. denied*, 200 Wn.2d 1024 (2023) (same).

*Fourth*, even if the corporate negligence doctrine were to apply to a small urology group like BUS without creating vicarious liability redundancy, it does not support imposing a duty to supervise in the way Foster claims. There is no duty to supervise by doing everything or following an experienced, trained, practicing PA around to ensure that she not "mess up." Foster's assertion that none of the doctors reviewed Taylor's chart notes, "were called by, or gave advice-instruction" to Taylor, *Pet. at 3*, ignores that Washington law does not require such things unless the practice agreement so provides. Washington has no chart review or co-signing requirements. Washington statutes and regulations permit PAs to evaluate patients and diagnose conditions if doing so falls within the scope

<sup>4</sup> Unpublished opinions cited per GR 14.1.

of their practice agreement and is consistent with the degree of supervision that the supervising physician and PA have deemed appropriate, as was true in Taylor's case. *See, e.g.,* RCW 18.71A.030; *Behr,* 18 Wn. App. 2d at 371-72.

Worse, neither Foster nor his experts can specifically articulate what BUS's duty to supervise encompassed, much less how it was supposed to not let Taylor "mess up" such that she would have, in fact, diagnosed such a rare urethral cancer that no physician diagnosed until post-biopsy. *See* CP 867-68, 871-72, 1052-62, 1334-38. All Foster and his experts contend is that BUS (and Dr. Carlsen) supposedly breached a duty to supervise by not correctly supervising Taylor, but that is insufficient. *Reyes v. Yakima Health Dist.*, 191 Wn.2d 79, 89, 419 P.3d 819 (2018) ("Allegations amounting to an assertion that the standard of care was to correctly diagnose or treat the patient are insufficient").

Division I correctly concluded that Foster failed to articulate a viable corporate negligence claim against BUS.

3. <u>Division I's decision affirming dismissal of Foster's negligent supervision claim against Dr. Carlsen does not conflict with this Court's decisions.</u>

Division I also properly concluded that Dr. Carlsen had no duty to supervise Taylor. *Slip Op. at 17-20*. Dr. Carlsen was not Taylor's designated supervisor or alternate, was not a signatory to her practice agreement, and there is no evidence that Taylor asked for his help or that he was even present in the clinic on the day that Taylor saw Foster. CP 637-38, 1757-58. Drs. Pettit and O'Keefe, not Dr. Carlsen, initially trained Taylor and were her DOH-approved supervisors. CP 637-38, 643-45, 724, 1744, 1751-52. While Dr. Carlsen may have been available if needed, Foster does not support his assertion, *Pet. at 3, 15-16*, that all three doctors equally "trained, supervised, and advised" Taylor, and, indeed, the record does not substantiate it.

Foster also offers no authority that in 2014 when Taylor saw Foster, physicians like Dr. Carlsen who were not DOH-approved supervising physicians could be liable under RCW 18.71A.050 for alleged inadequate supervision. Foster's

reliance, *Pet. at 17-18*, on *Paetsch v. Spokane Dermatology Clinic, PS*, 182 Wn.2d 842, 348 P.3d 389 (2015), is misplaced. While the plaintiff there argued the PA was the physician's agent such that the physician could be liable for failing to supervise the PA, because the physician presented evidence that he was not the PA's supervising physician, the trial court granted the physician judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* at 847-48. This Court affirmed. *Id.* at 851. Division I's decision is consistent with *Paetsch*.

Division I appropriately appreciated the lack of authority and evidence that Dr. Carlsen had a legal duty to supervise Taylor: "nothing in the record suggests that Dr. Carlsen assumed responsibility for Taylor's day-to-day activities." *Slip Op. 20*. Division I's decision does not conflict with this Court's decisions.

# B. Foster's Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest or a Significant Constitutional Question.

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